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     On April 23, the U.S. Department of Labor
published its new revisions to overtime regulations.
These revisions represent the first significant update
since the early 1950s.  Originally these regulations
were scheduled to be issued on March 30 of this
year, but the deadline was extended so the Office of
Management and Budget (OMB) could review
them.

     Ohio’s public employers should be aware of the following important
changes:

The new revisions allow for discipline of exempt employees,
(i.e., suspensions of one or more full days) to be imposed in
good faith for workplace conduct infractions.  This will permit
employers to suspend Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA)-
exempt employees for less than five days without risk of losing
the exemption.

The revisions allow the employer more flexibility to correct
improper deductions.  Now the employer has more time to
correct an improper deduction to an employee’s salary and
thereby avoids rendering the employee eligible for overtime.
Factors for the employer to consider, among others, include:
whether or not there was an actual practice of improper
deductions, the time period of the improper deductions, and the
number of employees whose wages were improperly reduced.

The updated regulations create a safe harbor.  If an employer
has communicated to its employees its policy prohibiting im-
proper deductions and has a complaint mechanism that includes
reimbursement, the employer won’t lose its exemption for the
employee unless the violation is willful.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR ISSUES
REVISED OVERTIME REGULATIONS
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     Joyce Penrod was a facilities planning project man-
ager with the State Architect’s Office (SAO), which falls
under the General Services Division of the Department of
Administrative Services (DAS).  As a result of impending
General Revenue Fund (GRF) cuts to its budget, the State
Architect’s Office had to reorganize to maximize efficien-
cies in its operation in order to continue to perform its
mission.  After exploring numerous avenues, the State
Architect’s Office decided to abolish Penrod’s position
and she was laid off.  Penrod appealed the abolishment of
her position to the State Personnel Board of Review.

     After presentation of the evidence, the administrative
law judge (ALJ) reviewing DAS’ stated rationale for
abolishing Penrod’s position (that being reorganization for
the more efficient operation of the organization)
disaffirmed the abolishment of Penrod’s position.  The
ALJ found fault in DAS’ use of the reorganization for
efficiency rationale when the real reason for abolishment
of Penrod’s position was for budgetary or economical
reasons (not a reason set forth in the DAS rationale).
The ALJ further found that the record did not appear to
support the contention that DAS’ team approach in the

1 The three rationales set forth in O.R.C. §124.321 are
economy, efficiency and lack of funds.

.....

     The new rules also clarify and simplify the old short
and long tests for FLSA exemptions for executive,
administrative professionals and computer professionals.
Importantly, the minimum salary requirements an em-
ployee must earn to be considered overtime-exempt
increased from $155 a week to $455 a week.  The new
rules and commentary may be accessed at the Depart-
ment of Labor’s web site at www.dol.gov.

     The rules take effect in 120 days from the date they
were published in the Code of Federal Regulations, or
August 23, 2004.

     However, members of the Senate have already
promised to prevent their implementation.

     We encourage those who have responsibility for the
administration of the Fair Labor Standards Act in their
agencies to become familiar with these new rules.

Don M. Collins
Senior Deputy Attorney General

WHAT’S IN A NAME?  DETERMINING
REASONS FOR THE ABOLISHMENT

OF POSITIONS

State Architect’s Office was more quantitatively efficient
after the abolishment of Penrod’s position than it had been
before the abolishment.  Finally, the ALJ implied that the
state appointing authority must select one rationale out of
the three set forth in O.R.C. §124.321(d) to support its
abolishment, and if challenged on appeal, bears burden of
defending that specific rationale.1

     DAS filed objections to the Report and Recommendations
of the ALJ.  The State Personnel Board of Review issued a
procedural order instructing the parties to supplement the
record on two questions.  After submission of those briefs,
the board disaffirmed the Report and Recommendation of
the ALJ and affirmed the abolishment of Penrod’s position.
Specifically, the board found that the record supported DAS’
argument that by expanding its team approach and flattening
its command structure, the SAO may have also made its
operation more qualitatively efficient after the abolishment
than before it.  Most importantly, the board found that there
could be overlap in the evidence presented regarding the
three rationales for abolishment set forth in Revised Code
§124.321.  In other words, an appointing authority may use a
hybrid rationale.  As such, O.R.C. §124.322 does not prohibit
an appointing authority from asserting and attempting to
prove that its rationale of reorganization for the efficient
operation of the appointing authority also contains elements
of economy.  The board found that state appointing authori-
ties may select more than one of the Revised Code §124.321
rationales to substantiate a decision to abolish an enumerated
civil service position.

     In its decision the board discussed the interaction
between the concepts of efficiency and economy.  The
board compared several definitions of the terms and found
that various legal and lay authorities recognized a substan-
tial overlap in the definitions of “efficiency” and
“economy.”  Therefore, the board found that it is too
narrow or stringent to demand that an appointing authority
cannot present what most courts refer to as a compilation
of evidence to demonstrate the validity of the appointing
authority’s rationale.

     Finally, the board found that because DAS had to con-
serve funds in the face of impending General Revenue Fund
(GRF) cuts to its budget, it needed to maximize efficiencies
in its operations to continue to perform its assigned missions
in the face of those cuts.  DAS was able to accomplish this
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     The U.S. and Ohio Supreme Courts each issued
decisions in early 2004 that settled fundamental questions
about the meaning of the “protected class” covered by
age discrimination statutes — persons over forty.   In
General Dynamics Land Systems, Inc. v. Cline, __
U.S. __, 124 S. Ct. 1236, 157 L.Ed.2d 1094 (2004), the
Court overruled the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Sixth
Circuit, and held that the Age Discrimination in Employ-
ment Act of 1967, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et. seq. [ADEA],
does not protect against so-called “reverse age” discrimi-
nation.  In Coryell v. Bank One Trust Co., 101 Ohio
St.3d 175, 803 N.E.2d 781 (2004), the court overruled
two of its own precedents, and held that R.C.
§4112.14(A) prohibits discrimination against “substan-
tially older” workers, even when the beneficiary of the
discrimination is also a member of the protected class.

     General Dynamics involved a collective bargaining
agreement that obligated the company to provide certain
health care benefits upon retirement to persons then over
the age of 50, but not to younger workers.  A group of

goal by becoming more quantitatively efficient and at the
same time was able to economize by saving on GRF
personnel that otherwise would have been required.  Thus,
DAS had proven its rationale by a preponderance of the
evidence, by speaking both to the economies of efficiency
and to efficiently economizing.

     The “moral” of this story appears to be that when
contemplating abolishments, appointing authorities are not
stuck with just one of the three enumerated rationales set
forth in the code, but may in their rationales state more
than one of the reasons for the abolishment as long as
there is a preponderance of evidence to support these
combined rationales.  Finally, although not interchange-
able, the rationale of reorganization for the more efficient
operation of the organization includes elements of
economy and vice versa.  To avoid challenges to their
abolishments, agencies need to be as clear as possible
when articulating the bases for the abolishment.

Anne E. Thomson
Deputy Attorney General.....

employees between the ages of 40 and 50 brought suit
under the ADEA, claiming that the plan discriminated
against them “because of such individual’s age,” in
violation of the plain language of 29 U.S.C. § 623(a)(1).
While recognizing that every other federal court had held
that “reverse age” discrimination claims could not be
pursued under the ADEA, a divided Sixth Circuit panel
found the specific language of the ADEA too “clear” to
ignore and held for the plaintiffs.  Cline v. General
Dynamics Land Systems, Inc., 296 F.3d 466 (6th Cir.
2002).  The Supreme Court reversed the decision.

     The Supreme Court’s majority relied upon the ADEA’s
legislative history, as well as the common understanding of
the Act’s purposes.  The ADEA was adopted in 1967 in
response to a report by the secretary of labor and other
legislative history describing the employment difficulties
faced by older workers — not younger ones.  Admittedly,
“age” is sometimes used in the ADEA to refer not to “old
age” but to relative youth, e.g., § 623(f)(1), establishing a
defense where “age is a bona fide occupational qualifica-
tion.”  The majority nonetheless found that when the same
term is used in the same act, but in different contexts,
consistency is the hobgoblin of small minds.  Finally, the
majority simply rejected the Equal Employment Opportu-
nity Commissions’s contrary interpretation as “clearly
wrong.”

     Justices Scalia, Thomas and Kennedy dissented,
sharing the view that the majority opinion warped the
traditional tools of statutory construction and distorted the
plain language of the ADEA.  Justice Thomas pointed out
that Title VII likewise prohibits discrimination “because of
such individual’s race” or “sex.”  This language has been
interpreted to permit reverse race and gender discrimina-
tion claims, despite the lack of testimony in the Congres-
sional Record describing problems  experienced by
Caucasians or males in employment, housing and public
accommodations.  Justice Thomas’ dissent did not address
the differing constitutional standards applicable to race
and gender discrimination on one hand, and age discrimi-
nation on the other.

     In Coryell, a 49-year-old employee was terminated
and replaced by a 42-year-old.  The lower courts dis-
missed the claim on the pleadings because under 20 years
of Ohio case law, in the absence of direct evidence of
discriminatory motive, a plaintiff could not establish a

TWO VICTORIES FOR
OLDER WORKERS
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prima facie case of age discrimination without alleging
that the beneficiary of the discrimination was less than 40
years old.  See, Kohmescher v. Kroger Co., 61 Ohio
St.3d 501, 575 N.E.2d 439 (1991); Barker v. Scovill,
Inc., 6 Ohio St.3d 146, 451 N.E.2d 807.

     The Ohio
Supreme Court
chose to follow
the intervening
decision in
O’Connor v.
Consol. Coin
Caterers Corp.,
517 U.S. 308
(1996).  In
O’Connor, the
U.S. Supreme
Court inter-
preted the
ADEA to
prohibit discrimination in favor of “substantially younger”
workers, even though the beneficiary of the discrimination
was over 40 years of age and in the same “protected
class” as the plaintiff.  Although not bound to follow
federal precedent in interpreting the analogous provisions
of R.C. Chapter 4112, the Ohio Supreme Court reasoned
that to do otherwise in this case would make “class
membership a more relevant concern than age-based
animus.”  As a second basis for reversal, the Court
adopted the federal rule in Swierkiewicz v. Sorema, N.A.,
534 U.S. 506 (2002).  This rule stated that it is unneces-
sary to plead the elements of a prima facie case when
filing a judicial complaint of discrimination.

     Justices Lundberg Stratton, Sweeney, and O’Donnell
dissented.  They pointed out that the General Assembly
has amended R.C. Chapter 4112 several times in the 20
years following Barker, yet has never seen fit to legisla-
tively overrule the Barker interpretation.  Because
legislative “inaction in the face of longstanding judicial
interpretations of [a statute] evidences legislative intent to
retain existing law,” the dissenters believed it up to the
General Assembly to reverse its apparent policy approv-
ing Barker’s interpretation of the statute.

 Jack W. Decker
Assistant Attorney General

 The Appeals Court Has Its Say

     On February 9, 2004, the Court of Appeals of Ohio, Third
Appellate District, issued its ruling in Ohio ex. rel. AFSCME,
et al. v. Taft, 156 Ohio App. 3d 37 (2004) (Case No. 1-03-
56).  This opinion dismantled the injunction that had been
issued by the Court of Common Pleas of Allen County,
barring Governor Bob Taft and Director Reginald A.
Wilkinson of the Ohio Department of Rehabilitation and
Correction (DRC) from closing the Lima Correctional
Institution (LCI) in an effort to compensate for projected
shortfalls in state revenues.

     The Third District Appellate Court initially held that the
case required a de novo review, or one in which the appeals
court independently reviews the trial court’s judgment without
giving it any deference, as a higher court usually does.  The
court then ruled that the trial court had erred in finding that
Governor Taft and DRC had violated the Separation of
Powers doctrine in the Ohio Constitution.  In reality, the Ohio

(Continued)

+
40

     In Leon v. Boardman Township, 100 Ohio St.3d
335 (2003), a discharged employee, dissatisfied with the
results of the arbitration of his grievance, moved without
his Union to vacate the award in common pleas court.
The Supreme Court held that a bargaining unit employee
does not have standing to move to vacate the award.
Only the union, which owns the grievance, has that
ability unless otherwise specified in the collective
bargaining agreement.  This case resolves and finalizes
a question of law that has raised its head from time to
time:  who owns the grievance?  Specifically, the
question answered was who can advance the grievance
or, as in this case, decide not to move to vacate a
decision of an arbitrator.  With the decision in Leon, the
Supreme Court made it clear that unless there is a
provision in the collective bargaining agreement, the
union owns the grievance.  It is up to the union to file
and advance, or not advance, the grievance as it sees
fit.

Donald M. Collins
Senior Deputy Attorney General.....

WHO OWNS THE GRIEVANCE?

CLOSING THE LIMA CORRECTIONAL INSTITUTION
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IMPORTANT TIPS AND REMINDERS

FOR EMPLOYERS

   Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA) Certification
     It is important to challenge a questionable FMLA
certification immediately, as a challenge to the original
certification at a later time is not allowed.  If you believe
that an employee is abusing FMLA by either using it for
purposes other than the basis for the original certification
or because you have reason to believe now that the
original basis was questionable, please call our offices.

   Signing Acknowlegements of Receipt
     Remember to have employees sign
acknowledgements of receipt for all policy manuals,
policy updates, and also sign attendance sheets when
they attend trainings.  Keep records of these signatures
as proof that employees received policies or attended
training, as this may be required later in court
proceedings.

(Continued)

Constitution contains no express provision enunciating
this concept, the appellate court ruled, nor does the
U.S. Constitution impose the Separation of Powers
doctrine upon the states.

     Therefore, the appeals court held that the trial court
had erred when it ruled Governor Taft and DRC lacked
the authority to close LCI, and had usurped the General
Assembly’s power by doing so.  Rather, the General
Assembly’s role pertaining to LCI was limited to autho-
rizing its creation, and, once it was built, assigning its
operation to DRC.  The General Assembly also is
responsible for appropriating funds to DRC to operate its
facilities, the Court ruled.  While the legislature can
earmark certain funds for specific projects, that was not
the case here — general revenue funds pay for the day-
to-day operations of DRC institutions like LCI.  Pre-
cisely how general revenue funds are spent, and the
amounts disbursed to each DRC facility, are issues that
fall entirely within the purview of the executive branch:
the Governor and, by proxy, DRC.

     The Court of Appeals also held that R.C.
§5120.03(A) provided DRC with clear authority to close
LCI.  That statute allows the director of DRC to
“change the purpose for which any institution or place
under the control of [DRC] is being used.”  Additionally,
R.C. §5120.36, which grants the DRC director “all
power and authority necessary for the full and efficient
exercise” of DRC, provided Director Wilkinson supple-
mental authority to close LCI.

     Furthermore, R.C. §126.05 not only grants the
governor explicit power to issue executive orders to
balance the state budget, it mandates that he do so.  In
this case, Executive Order 2003-01T stated in broad
terms the need to reduce state spending due to falling
revenues.  But the order inferred authority upon state
agency directors to determine specifically how each
agency would reduce its own spending.  Delegating
executive power in such a manner is entirely reasonable,
the appellate court held.

(Continued)
     Finally, the appellate court ruled that an injunction is an
extreme remedy in equity, one which trial courts should
invoke only if they lack any other lawful remedy.  And
while it is rarer still for an appeals court to find that a trial
court abused its discretion in issuing an injunction, such
was the case here.  The Third District Appeals Court
found that the trial court blatantly ignored several clear,
unambiguous statutes that grant broad authority to DRC,
including the ability to close prisons.  Hence, the appellate
court threw out the Common Pleas Court’s injunction
prohibiting Governor Taft and DRC from closing LCI,
laying off its employees, and transferring its inmates.

     It seems clear that in the Third District Court’s
opinion that the Court of Common Pleas of Allen County
overstepped its authority by issuing an injunction that
forbade Governor Taft from exercising his constitutional
duties.  The Court of Appeals of Ohio, Third Appellate
District restored the rule of law.  LCI now stands idle,
and the DRC’s budget, for now, works toward achieving
a precarious balance.

Mike Striff
Assistant Attorney General
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   Progressive Discipline
     Proper progressive discipline can be a solution for
problem employees.  It is important to document all
problems and properly discipline employees as needed.
Keep proper records related to performance reviews,
disciplinary actions, accommodations, etc.  Make sure
these documents are accurate and honest.  If an
employee is performing poorly, state this on his/her
evaluation.

    Employee Status
     Understand your employees’ status.  An exempt
employee under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) is
different than an employee exempt from the union.  An
employee may be exempt from the union but not exempt
under the FLSA.

     I-9 Forms
     Remember to complete and maintain proper I-9 forms
for every employee.  For ease during audits and to
protect against discrimination claims, it is best to keep all
I-9s in their own file, alphabetically.

The 124.34 Order

· Be sure to date the §124.34 Order when the
appointing authority signs it.  There is no reason
that an appointing authority cannot sign the Order
well in advance of its issuance to an employee.

· If the §124.34 Order is for disciplinary reasons,
then remember to clearly state the cause for
discipline on the §124.34 Order.  Feel free to use
additional pages to explain the circumstances.

· Make sure the employee receives the §124.34
Order before or on the effective date.  This can
be done by hand-delivery (although you must
clearly indicate the date of such hand-delivery on
the form) or through certified mail.  If you send
the Order certified mail, be sure to make the
effective date at the very least seven days after
the date you mail it in case delivery is refused and
you get it back and have to resend with a certifi-
cate of mailing.

(Continued)
· Keep the proof of service.  When you send out a

§123.34 Order by certified mail, return receipt
requested, save the green return receipt that is
usually signed by the employee or someone at his or
her residence.  Get an affidavit from the service
processor, and obtain a signed receipt from the
employee if hand delivered.

    Communication
     Establish and maintain a good communication system
with your employees, supervisors, centralized offices, inside
and outside counsel, etc.

     If you should have any questions concerning these
topics, please feel free to call our office and one of our
attorneys general will be happy to assist you.

Jessica M. Harmon
Assistant Attorney General

     Are learning disabilities considered serious health
conditions under the Family and Medical Leave Act
(FMLA)?  A recent 6th Circuit Court of Appeals case has
provided some guidance on this issue.  In Perry v. Jaguar
of Troy, 353 F.3d 510 (6th Cir. 2003), the Court determined
that a 13-year-old child’s attention deficit disorder (ADD)
and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) were
not serious health conditions.

     An employee is entitled to FMLA leave if (1) the
employee has a serious health condition that makes the
employee unable to perform the functions of the employee’s
job, or (2) the employee is needed to care for the
employee’s spouse, child, or parent with a serious health
condition.  See 29 CFR (Code of Federal Regulations)
§825.112.  Under the FMLA, the phrase “serious health
condition” is described at length in the Code of Federal
Regulations (See 29 CFR §825.114).  Whether the alleged
condition involves inpatient care or continuing treatment, a
serious health condition must involve a period of incapacity.
A period of incapacity is described as the “inability to work,
attend school or perform other regular daily activities due to
the serious health condition, treatment therefore, or recov-
ery therefrom.” (See 29 CFR §825.114).

ARE ADD AND ADHD SERIOUS HEALTH
CONDITIONS UNDER THE FMLA?
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     In Perry, Jeffrey Perry was employed by an auto parts
dealer in 2001 when he sought leave to care for his 13-year-old
son, Victor, who had been diagnosed with ADD and ADHD.
Victor took medication and visited a doctor every six months to
check his physical condition and the effects of the medication.
Victor was certified as “educable mentally impaired,” and he
functioned at a third-grade reading level and a second-grade
written language skill level.  During the school year, Victor rode
the bus to and from school and he attended a class for emo-
tionally and mentally impaired students.  In his spare time,
Victor played video games, watched television, rode his bike,
swam, and played with other children in his neighborhood.

     Victor’s mother and other family members had cared for
Victor in the summers prior to 2001.  Perry claimed that Victor
needed to be constantly monitored for safety and to ensure that
his behavior was socially acceptable.  Examples of behavior
that required extra monitoring included peeking in windows of
neighbors, biking on the service drive of a freeway, and calling
video game companies on the telephone.  In 2001, Jeffrey
Perry decided to take a leave from his job to care for Victor.

     The Court’s FMLA analysis focused on whether Victor
Perry was incapacitated in the summer of 2001.  Perry argued
that his son was incapacitated because (1) Victor could not
perform regular daily activities compared to other children that
do not have ADD or ADHD, and (2) Victor could not attend a
regular day camp.  The Court found that “the fact that a child
with learning disabilities does not function at the same level as
a child of the same age without learning disabilities sheds no
light on whether that child can perform regular daily activities.”
In addition, the Court stated, “the comparative amount of
supervision a child needs standing alone does not address the
child’s ability to engage in regular daily activities.”   The Court
even said that the examples of Victor’s behavior that required
extra monitoring, if anything, showed that he is capable of
performing regular daily activities.

     The Court found there was not enough evidence for a jury
to reasonably conclude that Victor was incapacitated; there-
fore, Victor did not have a serious health condition under the
FMLA.  Perry shows that a learning disability, specifically an
attention disorder, may fail to qualify as a serious health
condition because it does not result in a period of incapacity.
However, each FMLA request should be individually assessed
because there are other occasions where a learning disability
may result in a period of incapacity.  Remember to look at the
person’s ability to work, attend school or perform other regular
daily activities.

   Cavett Kreps
    Assistant Attorney General.....

     Does your workplace have motivational posters? The
kind with breath-taking scenery photos?  Sometimes the
photos include a man scaling a jagged mountain, a woman
mastering the awesome crush of ocean waves on a surf
board, or maybe a multi-gender, multi-race crew team
sculling madly to victory.  The posters always have captions
intended to inspire one to great feats or universal enlighten-
ment.  Phrases such as “What the mind can conceive and
believe, it can achieve,” “Courage comes from a reserve of
the mind more powerful than outside circumstances,” and
“Diversity is our strength” often accompany the photos.
Have you ever imagined that you or your employer could be
sued for posting motivational posters in your workplace?  It
can happen.  Hewlett Packard Co. was sued in federal
court.  Peterson v. Hewlett Packard Co., 2004 U.S. App.
Lexis 72 (9th Cir. Jan. 6, 2004).  This 9th Circuit case serves
as a reminder to employers and human resource profession-
als of the importance of balancing First Amendment prin-
ciples with anti-discrimination and anti-harassment work
place policies.

     In the spring of 1998, the Boise, Idaho division of Hewlett
Packard (HP) initiated a work place diversity campaign that
included display of various posters throughout the facility.
The posters depicted individual, smiling, happy workers of all
races, sexes, national origins and religions gleefully perform-
ing their assigned tasks.  The posters identified a characteris-
tic of the worker, such as “old,” “black,” “gay,” and “His-
panic.”  A few weeks later, a poster depicting all the smiling,
happy workers together, captioned, “Diversity is Our
Strength” was displayed.

     Unfortunately, one of HP’s actual happy workers,
Peterson, found homosexuality an affront to his religion.
Peterson said he believed that HP, through its diversity
program, was telling him to accept homosexuals.  Peterson
said he had a religious duty to oppose homosexuality and that
as long as HP was condoning homosexuality, he was going to
oppose it.  Peterson opposed the diversity program by
posting anti-homosexual biblical verses in his cubicle.  Being
a conscientious employer, HP approached Peterson and
asked him to remove the biblical verses because the postings
violated the company’s workplace anti-harassment and anti-
discrimination policies.  Peterson refused.  He explained
opposition to the diversity program posters and requested a
religious accommodation.  Peterson’s solution — I’ll take my

HARASSMENT V. DISCRIMINATION

(Continued)
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verses down if HP takes its posters down, or we both keep
our postings.  After multiple attempts to resolve the matter,
HP declined Peterson’s offer and terminated him for
violation of its work place policies.  Peterson then sued HP
for religious discrimination and failure to accommodate his
religion.  The trial court dismissed the suit and Peterson
appealed to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.

     This is where the balancing act began.  Title VII
prohibits an employer from firing or otherwise discriminat-
ing against an employee on the basis of an individual’s
religion.  “Religion,” over the years, has come to be
defined as all aspects of religious observance and practice.
Religion comes in amazing shapes and sizes, everything
from the ancient, established religious orders to the rela-
tively new Church of Body Modification.  (As a side note,
one can be ordained in a mere matter of minutes on
several of the web sites maintained by today’s modern
ecclesiastic organizations.  I know because I became the
Reverend Jill in less than 10 minutes, at no cost, while
researching this article.)   Title VII also prohibits discrimi-
nation and harassment on the basis of gender, race and
national origin.  However, the courts have held that
employers must provide a religious accommodation unless
the employer can demonstrate that it is unable to reason-
ably accommodate an employee’s religious practice or
observance without undue hardship on the conduct of
business.  Furthermore, such accommodation cannot
discriminate against co-workers or deprive them of
statutory or contractual rights.  Add to this mix the fact that
free speech principles often apply in the state employment
arena, and you have the makings of an epic motion picture
with a cast of thousands.

     The Ninth Circuit evaluated Peterson’s claims from
both the discrimination and failure to accommodate angles.
Peterson claimed that HP’s diversity posters were a
“crusade to convert fundamentalist Christians” to the
company’s values.  Peterson also argued that the disciplin-
ary action taken against him was a form of harassment.
The Court disagreed with Peterson’s characterization of
HP’s program and the discipline.  The Court wrote,
Peterson may be correct that the campaign devoted
special attention to combating prejudice against homosexu-
als, but such an emphasis is in no manner unlawful.”  The
Court noted that the HP managers had acknowledged
Peterson’s beliefs and opinions and insisted that he need
not change them.  The Court pointed out that the managers
were simply following uniformly applied anti-harassment

(Continued)
policy.  Likewise, Peterson’s failure to accommodate claims
fell short.  The Court was quick to point out that Peterson’s
proposed accommodation would have forced the employer to
permit the posting of messages intended to demean and harass
co-workers and exclude individuals from the diversity program.
Thus the Court dismissed all of Peterson’s claims.

     What is the practical impact of a Ninth Circuit case on
employers in Ohio?  Employers need to be aware of the
balancing act they must perform to maintain a neutral work
place.  Also, employers must be aware that one person’s
harassment may mean another person’s discrimination — and
it may be OK with the Constitution and the Courts.  The U.S.
Supreme Court has heard several cases with religious implica-
tions this session.  Stay tuned for more developments on this
issue.

Jill Jay Couch
Assistant Attorney General.....

(Continued)

     Identity theft takes place when someone, without author-
ity, obtains the personal identifying information of another and
commits fraud, typically for financial gain.  The personal
information sought by an identity thief generally includes
home addresses, telephone numbers, birth dates and Social
Security numbers.  Potential identity thieves can access all of
the personal data in one convenient place — employee
personnel files.  According to the Federal Trade Commission
(FTC), employer records are the number one resource for
personal information used in identity theft.

     In particular, one’s Social Security number is a critical
piece of information for the identity thief.  The Social
Security number, combined with an individual’s home
address and telephone number, is generally enough to
permit a thief to apply for, and in many cases, fraudulently
obtain, credit.  Victims of identity theft can spend months,
or even years trying to restore their good name and credit
record.  With identity theft becoming more frequent, employ-
ers must be conscious of the content and location of em-
ployee records and must be aware and careful about who has
access to them.

     In 2002, a State of Illinois Human Services Department
employee stole personal data, including Social Security
numbers, from 5,000 state workers.  The information was

IDENTITY THEFT IN THE WORKPLACE
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     While few public employers have faced the need to hire
an outside law firm or detective agency to conduct a work
place investigation, private employers have had to navigate
this troubling minefield for years.  Under a new federal law
effective on April 1, 2004, called the Fair and Accurate
Credit Transactions Act (FACT Act), employers are now
allowed to hire outside experts to conduct these special
investigations without fear of violating the Fair Credit
Reporting Act (FCRA) 15 U.S.C. § 1681. 

     The FCRA is a federal law governing entities that obtain
or generate reports regarding a person’s credit history.
However, the terms “credit history report” and “consumer
reporting agency” are defined broadly under the FCRA,
which over the years has led to some interesting rulings by
the Federal Trade Commission (FTC), which is the federal
agency charged with administering the Act.

     The FCRA has very strict notice and reporting require-
ments.   In line with those requirements, on April 5, 1999,
the FTC issued an opinion letter, referred to as the “Vail
Letter,” holding that an investigatory report generated by a
third party (outside legal counsel) to the employer regard-
ing a claim of harassment is a “consumer report” subject
to the notice provisions of FCRA.  Thus, under the FTC’s
Vail Letter, employers had to comply with the FCRA when
using outside investigators to conduct investigations
relating to workplace misconduct.   Employers had to
notify and obtain the written consent of the suspected
employee before having a “consumer reporting agency”
conduct an investigation.  The employer also had to share
an unredacted copy of the report with the suspected
harasser if the report was used as the basis for disciplining
the employee.  Naturally, these restrictions made it imprac-
tical for employers to hire specialized outside firms to
conduct workplace investigations.

     Under the new FACT Act, an employer who uses a
third party to conduct any type of workplace investigation
need not comply with the consent and disclosure require-
ments of FCRA at the initial stage, if there is an investiga-
tion being conducted relating to violations of pre-existing
written policies of the employer, violations of the law or
suspected employee misconduct (investigation of an
employee’s credit history is still covered under the
FCRA).  Employers can once again have these investiga-
tions conducted by an outside firm without the suspected
employee having prior knowledge.  However, should the
employer take any adverse action against the targeted
employee as a result of the third party investigation, the
FACT Act still requires that the employer provide a
summary of the investigative report to the employee.  The
summary report should not be shared with anyone but the
employee.    

     Contact the Attorney General’s Employment Law
Section if you have any questions on conducting work
place investigations or disciplining employees who are
found to have violated your agency’s EEO policies.

Sloan T. Spalding
Assistant Attorney General

IT IS NOW A FACT:
EMPLOYERS CAN HIRE OUTSIDE SPECIALISTS

TO CONDUCT WORKPLACE INVESTIGATIONS

.....

used to open credit card accounts, and hundreds of thousands
of dollars were fraudulently charged on these accounts.

     In an effort to avoid a scenario like the one above,
employers can take some precautionary steps.  For ex-
ample, consider using alternative numbers in lieu of Social
Security numbers to identify employees.  If your agency
uses Social Security numbers as an employee identifier,
redact or black-out the number from documents contained in
the personnel file when such a file is requested for review
by anyone other than the employee at issue.  Additionally, in
some reported cases of identity theft, a temporary worker
was found to be responsible for stealing employee personal
data.  Employers should avoid providing temporary workers
access to sensitive employee records.

     With incidents of identity theft on the rise, employers
must take proactive, preventive steps toward achieving
greater security awareness in the workplace.

Margaret Telb DiSalle
Assistant Attorney General
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     The Ohio Supreme Court recently issued a decision in
which it affirmed, by a 6-1 majority, the prospective
deduction of vacation leave as a means of disciplining an
employee.  Harden v. Ohio Attorney General (2004), 101
Ohio St.3d 137, 2004 Ohio LEXIS 268.

     On April 24, 1999, pursuant to Ohio Revised R.C.
124.34, the Ohio Attorney General’s Bureau of Criminal
Identification and Investigation notified appellant Larry
Harden, a special agent supervisor of the Crime Scene
Unit, that his vacation leave balance was being reduced by
eight hours due to “neglect of duty/and or non-feasance.”

The exact penalty imposed read as followed:

Your vacation leave balance will be
reduced by eight (8) hours.  If your
current vacation leave balance is
insufficient, such reduction will take
place as you accrue vacation leave.
The hours will be deducted from your
vacation leave balance from the pay
period  beginning  April 25, 1999, until
sufficient vacation leave has been
deducted to equal a total of eight hours
as a result of this order.

     A three-day hearing was conducted before the State
Personnel Board of Review (SPBR), resulting in an
administrative law judge’s (ALJ) recommendation affirm-
ing the eight-hour deduction of Harden’s vacation balance.
Harden objected to the report and recommendation, basing
his objection purely on a legal question of whether such a
deduction is statutorily permissible.  However, the SPBR
adopted the ALJ’s recommendation and affirmed Harden’s
vacation hour reduction.  Pursuant to R.C. §119.12 and
§124.34, Harden appealed to the Franklin County Court of
Common Pleas, which affirmed the SPBR’s order.

     Harden then appealed to the Tenth District Court of
Appeals, which affirmed the Common Pleas Court decision
in part and reversed it in part.  The appeals court agreed
with Harden that the disciplinary process does not allow an
employer to reduce vacation credits that already have been
earned.  Relying on Batra v. Wright State University

DEDUCTING VACATION LEAVE AS DISCIPLINE
(1992), 84 Ohio App.3d 350, 616 N.E.2d 1137 and Ebert v.
Bd. of Mental Retardation (1980), 63 Ohio St.2d 31, 406
N.E.2d 1098, respectively, the appeals court observed than
an employer could not retroactively apply a lesser vacation
policy nor retroactively revoke sick leave credits once they
were earned.  In both instances the accrued leave was
considered to have become the employee’s vested prop-
erty right.

     However, the appeals court distinguished between the
taking away of accrued vacation credits as opposed to the
prospective deduction of vacation time which accrues
subsequent to the disciplinary action.  The court justified its
modified judgment based upon the language of the disci-
plinary order which allowed for the future deduction of
hours in the event Harden’s existing leave balance was
insufficient.  The court reasoned that its own ruling against
the retroactive reduction in vacation leave had the effect
of rendering Harden’s current balance insufficient, thereby
triggering the alternate prospective provision.

     Consequently, the Tenth District reversed and re-
manded the case to the trial court to modify its
order to reflect the future, or post-discipline, reduction of
Harden’s vacation hours.

     Before the Supreme Court, Harden argued that a state
employee’s vacation leave becomes a vested right as it
incrementally accrues pursuant to R.C. §124.134, and
therefore, regardless of whether such leave is earned
prospectively or retrospectively to a disciplinary vacation,
such leave may never be stripped.  The Court was
unconvinced by this argument and held that the prospective
deduction of vacation leave before it accrues does not
affect an employee’s vested right.

     Having concluded that the prospective deduction of
vacation leave does not affect the vested right of a state
employee, the Court next considered whether deducting an
employee’s vacation time constitutes a “reduction in pay”
authorized by R.C. §124.34 as a means of discipline.  The
Court observed that neither R.C.§124.34, or R.C.
§124.134, which grants vacation leave, answers the
question of whether vacation leave constitutes “pay” or
whether deducting vacation leave credits for disciplinary
purposes constitutes a “reduction in pay.”

(Continued)
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     However, the Court did construe the term “reduction in
pay” in the context of  R.C. §124.03 in State ex rel.
Bassman v. Earhart (1985), 18 Ohio St.3d 182, 480
N.E.2d 761.  There, a county welfare department discon-
tinued free parking for budgetary reasons.  In characteriz-
ing free parking as a gratuity, the Court contrasted it with
statutorily granted sick leave and concluded that the
termination of a gratuity did not rise to the level of a
reduction in pay entitling the employees to invoke the
jurisdiction of the SPBR.  Relying on Bassman, the Court
found vacation leave to be a statutory entitlement similar to
sick leave, not a gratuity.  Consequently, the Court held that
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deducting an employee’s vacation leave constitutes a
“reduction in pay” within the meaning of R.C. §124.34 and
serves as one means of disciplining an employee for
neglect of duty or nonfeasance.

Timothy A. Lecklider
Assistant Attorney General
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